IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED
AUG 12 2019
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2018-CP-2201001
Appellate Case No.: 2019-000451

Nicole Lampo..... Respondent,

v.

Amedisys Holding, LLC, and
Leisa Victoria Neasbitt Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Jason D Keck, *Pro Hac Vice*
Fisher & Phillips, LLP
10 South Wacker Drive, Suite 3450
Chicago, Illinois 60606
jkeck@fisherphillips.com

-and-

George A. Reeves III, S.C. Bar No. 73659
Fisher & Phillips, LLP
1320 Main Street, Suite 750
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
greeves@fisherphillips.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court erred by refusing to enforce the Parties written agreement to arbitrate claims that arise out of or relate to Respondent's employment?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ms. Lampo formerly worked for Amedisys as a Physical Therapist. In August 2013, Ms. Lampo agreed to binding arbitration with Amedisys for any claim or dispute arising from or related to Ms. Lampo's employment. Notwithstanding her agreement, on December 7, 2018, Ms. Lampo filed a lawsuit in the Court situated in Georgetown County alleging: (1) wrongful discharge; (2) tortious interference; and (3) defamation. Thereafter, Amedisys notified Ms. Lampo that it intended to enforce her contractual agreement to arbitrate those claims, but Ms. Lampo refused to honor her obligation to arbitrate. Consequently, Amedisys and Ms. Neasbitt—Ms. Lampo's former supervisor named individually as a defendant—moved to compel arbitration, but the Trial Court denied the motion holding that "there is insufficient evidence of a valid acceptance to give rise to an enforceable contract under South Carolina contract law." As established below, Amedisys and Ms. Neasbitt respectfully believe the Circuit Court erred in its decision. Thus, Amedisys and Neasbitt now appeal.

RELEVANT BACKGROUND

I. Relevant Factual Background

Amedisys provides home health and hospice services to patients throughout the United States. R. p. 12. In July 2013, Amedisys hired Ms. Lampo to work as a Physical Therapist primarily out of its Horry and Georgetown County, South Carolina care centers. *See id.* Like all employees, Amedisys provided Ms. Lampo (at the time of hire) with a unique username and password permitting Ms. Lampo to log into Amedisys' computer-based system, known as "SharePoint." R. pp. 45-46. During that time, Amedisys also assigned Ms. Lampo a unique email accessible only to her via her unique username and password, which Ms. Lampo had the ability to change at her discretion. R. pp. 45-46.

On August 6, 2013, Amedisys emailed all employees, including Ms. Lampo, concerning the Company's written Dispute Resolution Agreement ("Arbitration Agreement"). R. pp. 46, 50. The email subject line stated, "Important Policy Change – Must Read." *Id.* The subject of the email stated: "[t]his e-mail contains important time-sensitive materials that the Company requires that you read as they could affect your legal rights. Please click here to receive them." *Id.* Upon clicking on the email to open it in their inbox, each employee, including Ms. Lampo, was provided with an Acknowledgment Form, which stated:

THE AMEDISYS ARBITRATION PROGRAM

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT FORM

By clicking "Acknowledge" below, you will be given access to the Amedisys Arbitration Program materials, which include a Cover Letter, the Dispute Resolution Agreement, and FAQs. You are required to review these materials. Please read the materials carefully. **Unless you opt out of the Dispute Resolution Agreement within 30 days of today's date, you will be bound by it, which will affect your legal rights.**

By clicking the "Acknowledge" button on this screen I acknowledge and understand that I will be given access to the materials described in the above paragraph and that I am required to review these materials."

R. pp. 43, 52. Once an employee clicked "Acknowledge" on the Acknowledgement Form, they were directed to a webpage that provided descriptions and links to all of the Amedisys' Arbitration Program materials, including a cover letter, the Arbitration Agreement, and a six-page fact sheet of FAQs explaining the Arbitration Agreement.¹ R. pp. 46, 52, 60-71. These three documents were the only documents located on the webpage. *See id.* Ms. Lampo clicked "Acknowledge" on August 6, 2013 at 1:55 p.m. R. pp. 55, 58. Thereafter, Ms. Lampo had unrestricted access to Amedisys' Arbitration Program materials and could read them, consult

¹ Included in the materials was information regarding a "hotline" Ms. Lampo (or any other employee) could call if she had questions about the Arbitration Agreement. R. p. 71.

with an attorney (or anyone else) about them if she chose (including a Company-provided Hotline), and then make a decision if she wanted to participate or opt out.

The Arbitration Agreement, which Ms. Lampo “Acknowledged” she was “required” to review (*see* R. p. 52) provides for mutual arbitration, and states:

“This Dispute Resolution Agreement (“the “Agreement”) is an agreement to resolve any and all legal disputes between you (“Employee”) and Amedisys before an arbitrator, rather than in court.” The Arbitration Agreement states it “is effective immediately, subject to Employee opting out of the Agreement within 30 days, in accordance with Section 9, above.”

R. pp. 45, 60. The Arbitration Agreement reiterated that “Arbitration is not a mandatory condition of Employee’s employment at the Company, and therefore an Employee may submit a form stating that the Employee wishes to opt out and not be subject to this Agreement.” *See id.* The Arbitration Agreement states it is governed by the Federal Arbitration Act and applies to “any dispute arising out of or related to Employee’s employment with Amedisys or termination of employment regardless of its date of accrual and survives after the employment relationship terminates.”² *See id.* Under the Arbitration Agreement, the employee and Amedisys may select an arbitrator by mutual agreement, and if they are unable to do so, the selection proceeds under American Arbitration Association (“AAA”) rules. R. p. 62. Written discovery, depositions and dispositive motions are allowed. R. p. 63. Furthermore, the Arbitration Agreement states that Amedisys will pay the arbitrator’s fees and any costs in accordance with AAA rules and Ms. Lampo is responsible for her own attorney’s fees, witness fees, costs and expenses, just like she would if this matter were litigated in court. R. p. 65.

² As established below, because Ms. Lampo’s claims against Ms. Neasbitt derive from her employment with Amedisys, her inclusion of Neasbitt as an individual defendant in this case is inconsequential for purposes of ordering this matter be arbitrated. *See infra.*

To ensure it was easy for employees to opt out of the Arbitration Agreement if they desired, Amedisys included a simple “Dispute Resolution Agreement Opt-Out Form” as Attachment “A” to the Arbitration Agreement. R. pp. 47, 67. Thus, to “opt-out” of the Arbitration Agreement, all an employee needed to do was sign, date, and return the Arbitration Agreement Opt-Out Form within 30 days of the employee’s receipt of the same. *See id.* To make sure employees understood this, the cover letter provided to Ms. Lampo, which she “Acknowledged” she was required to review, explained:

What if I do not want to arbitrate? You have 30 days from the date of this memorandum to opt out of the Dispute Resolution Agreement. You may do so by printing the Opt-Out Form (Attachment A to the Agreement), printing and signing your name . . . and sending it by U.S. Mail to Amedisys, Inc., postmarked no later than 30 days from the date you acknowledged receipt of the Dispute Resolution Agreement.

The Arbitration Agreement itself also states, in relevant part:

Should Employee fail to opt out of this Agreement within the 30-day period in the manner provided above, Employee’s continuation of his or her employment with the Company shall constitute Employee’s and Company’s mutual acceptance of the terms of this Agreement.

R. pp. 46-47, 65-66, 69-70.

Amedisys’ Human Resources Department maintains a file containing the actual hard copy of all opt-out forms completed by any employee who chose to opt-out of the Arbitration Agreement. R. p. 47. Ms. Lampo does not allege she opted out of the Arbitration Agreement and Amedisys did not have an “opt out” form for her. R. pp. 47, 142-143. Rather, Ms. Lampo continued to work for Amedisys until March 2018 at which point Ms. Lampo alleges Amedisys terminated her employment. R. pp. 10-24.

II. Relevant Procedural Background

On December 7, 2018, Ms. Lampo filed a four-count complaint alleging Amedisys violated South Carolina common law by “wrongfully discharging” her from her employment with Amedisys (Count I), tortiously interfering with her “prospective contractual relations” (Count IV), and that Amedisys and Ms. Neasbitt defamed Ms. Lampo (Counts II and III). R. pp. 10-24. Specifically, Ms. Lampo alleges that Amedisys “wrongfully” terminated her employment in violation of public policy after she purportedly made compliance-related reports to Amedisys’ corporate office. R. pp. 13-14, 17-18. Thereafter, Ms. Lampo alleges that Amedisys and Ms. Neasbitt “defamed” her by making false statements regarding Ms. Lampo that “lessened [Ms. Lampo’s] standing in her profession.” R. pp. 16, 18-21. Ms. Lampo also alleges that Amedisys tortiously interfered with her “prospective employment” when some unknown person made someone unknown statement(s) to some unknown prospective employer preventing Ms. Lampo from obtaining some unknown job. R. pp. 16-17, 21-22.

On February 4, 2019, Amedisys and Ms. Neasbitt filed their Motion establishing that Ms. Lampo’s claims were preempted by the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”) and relegated to mandatory arbitration, based upon Ms. Lampo’s voluntary acceptance of the Arbitration Agreement. R. pp. 25-121. On February 26, 2019, Ms. Lampo filed her “Memorandum in Opposition.” R. pp. 122-46.

On March 1, 2019, the Parties, through counsel, appeared before the Honorable Presiding Circuit Court Judge, Benjamin H. Culbertson, for a hearing on Amedisys and Ms. Lampo’s Motion. R. pp. 147-78. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Culbertson denied Amedisys’ Motion holding that failing to opt out of the Arbitration Agreement did not evince Ms. Lampo’s

acceptance of the agreement. R. p. 175. Thereafter, on March 11, 2019, Judge Culbertson entered an Order prepared unilaterally by Ms. Lampo’s counsel. R. pp. 5-9.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews questions of law *de novo*. *Proctor v. Steedley*, 398 S.C. 561, 573, 730 S.E.2d 357 (Ct. App. 2012). The “determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is subject to *de novo* review.” *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). Where, as here, the material facts concerning the formation of a contract are not in dispute, the issue of contract *vel non* is a question of law. *W.E. Gilbert & Assocs. v. South Carolina Nat. Bank*, 285 S.C. 421, 423, 330 S.E.2d 307, 309 (Ct. App. 1985).

LEGAL ARGUMENTS

Due to the liberal policy favoring arbitration, the party challenging the validity of an arbitration agreement—here, Ms. Lampo—bears the burden showing the agreement at issue is unenforceable. *See Green Tree Fin. Corp., v. Randolph*, 531 U.S. 79, 92 (2000); *Rock v. Solar Rating & Cert. Corp.*, 2018 WL 3750617, *6 (D.S.C. 2018). To compel arbitration, four requirements must be met: (1) a dispute between the parties; (2) a valid, written agreement to arbitrate encompassing the dispute; (3) a transaction relating to interstate commerce; and (4) a refusal to arbitrate. *See American Gen. Life & Accident Ins., Co. v. Wood*, 429 F.3d 83, 87 (4th Cir. 2005).

Before the Circuit Court, Ms. Lampo did not challenge the first, third, or fourth requirements and, thus, has waived the ability to do so on appeal. R. pp. 122-46. *See Richland Cty. v. Caroline Chloride, Inc.* 382 S.C. 634, 656, 677 S.E.3d 892, 903 (Ct. App. 2009). Instead, Ms. Lampo challenged the second requirement arguing that her failure to opt out of the Arbitration Agreement did not evidence her acquiescence to the agreement. *See id.* As

established below, Ms. Lampo's argument, adopted by the Circuit Court, oversimplifies and contorts Ms. Lampo's actions, such that her decision to click "Acknowledge," not opt out of the Arbitration Agreement, and continue working for Amedisys evidences her unequivocal agreement to arbitrate. Thus, Amedisys and Ms. Neasbitt respectfully argue that the Circuit Court erred when it refused to enforce the Arbitration Agreement and did not order this case to be resolved in binding arbitration. Accordingly, this Honorable Court should reverse the Circuit Court's Order denying Amedisys and Ms. Neasbitt's Motion and mandate this case be decided pursuant to the Arbitration Agreement between the Parties.

I. The Arbitration Agreement is Governed by the Federal Arbitration Act.

Before the Circuit Court, Ms. Lampo did not challenge the applicability of the FAA to the Arbitration Agreement. To be sure, though, the FAA, 9 U.S.C. §§ 1-14, applies to written arbitration agreements between employers and employees in transactions involving interstate commerce. *See Circuit City Stores, Inc. v. Adams*, 532 U.S. 105, 112 (2001). "Involving commerce" is to be construed as broadly as possible, meaning that any arbitration agreement that affects commerce in any way is governed by the FAA. *Allied-Bruce Terminix Cos. v. Dobson*, 513 U.S. 265, 273-281 (1995). In other words, the FAA applies to all arbitration agreements where a party to that agreement is involved in interstate commerce. *See id.* at 282.

Under the FAA, a provision in a written agreement to resolve controversies between the parties by arbitration "shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract." *AT&T Mobility, LLC v. Concepcion*, 131 S. Ct. 1740, 1751 (2011); 9 U.S.C. § 2. As the Supreme Court has repeatedly emphasized, the FAA "strongly favors the enforcement of agreements to arbitrate as a means of securing 'prompt, economical, and adequate solution of controversies.'" *Circuit City Stores, Inc.*, 532

U.S. at 132; *Moses H. Cone Mem'l Hosp. v. Mercury Constr. Corp.*, 460 U.S. 1, 29 (1983). Thus, the FAA establishes a “federal policy favoring arbitration.” *Moses H. Cone Mem'l Hosp.*, 460 U.S. at 24. Therefore, a motion to compel arbitration should not be denied unless it may be said “with positive assurance” that the issues are outside the scope of the arbitration clause. *AT&T Techs., Inc. v. Comm'n's Workers of Am.*, 475 U.S. 643, 650 (1986). And, courts must interpret arbitration provisions liberally, resolving doubts in favor of arbitration. *Moses H. Cone Mem'l Hosp.*, 460 U.S. at 24 (1983); *see also AT&T Tech., Inc.* 475 U.S. at 650. South Carolina shares the Supreme Court’s strong public policy favoring arbitration. *See, e.g., Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 597, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118–19 (2001) (“[U]nless the court can say with positive assurance that the arbitration clause is not susceptible to an interpretation that covers the dispute, arbitration should be ordered . . .”).

In this case, the Arbitration Agreement makes clear that it is governed by the FAA. R. p. 60. Furthermore, as of date Amedisys filed its Motion, Amedisys and its affiliated companies employ in excess of 16,000 people in thirty-four (34) states. R. p. 44. Amedisys orders supplies and receives payments for services across state lines, including from the federal government. *See id.* There simply is not (and cannot be) any dispute that Amedisys is a nationwide company that operates facilities and conducts transactions in interstate commerce. *See e.g., Lesneski v. Ross Stores, Inc.*, 2017 WL 2919014, *2 (W.D.N.C. 2017); *Circuit City Stores, Inc.*, 532 U.S. at 123 (holding that the FAA was applicable to arbitration agreement between a sales associate and her multistate employer). Thus, the Arbitration Agreement is governed by the FAA, and according to both long-established legal precedent and Congressional intent, and any doubts concerning arbitrability must be resolved in favor of arbitration.

II. The Arbitration Agreement is a Valid and Enforceable Contract.

“Whether a party agreed to arbitrate a particular dispute is a question of state law governing contract formation.” *Adkins v. Labor Ready, Inc.*, 303 F.3d 496, 501 (4th Cir. 2002). Thus, where a valid arbitration agreement exists and covers the claims at issue, the Court has “no choice but to grant a motion to compel arbitration.” *Id.* at 500. For a valid contract to exist under South Carolina law, such as the case here, the three elements of offer, acceptance, and consideration must be present, and none of the recognized defenses to contract formation, such as fraud, duress, or unconscionability, should apply. *See, e.g., Sauner v. Pub. Serv. Auth. of S.C.*, 354 S.C. 397, 406, 581 S.E.2d 161, 166 (S.C. 2003); *Young v. AMISUB of South Carolina, Inc.*, 2018 WL 5668619, *3 (D.S.C. 2018). In this case, all three elements are present, and no defenses to the Arbitration Agreement exist.

On two different occasions, federal district courts in Kentucky and Louisiana have enforced the exact same Arbitration Agreement at issue in this case. *See Knight v. Amedisys Holding, LLC*, 2016 WL 5661227 (W.D. Ky. 2016); *Langlois v. Amedisys, Inc.*, 2016 WL 4059670 (M.D. La. 2016).³ While neither *Knight*, nor *Langlois* is binding on this Honorable Court, they are persuasive in one critical context. Like South Carolina, both Kentucky and Louisiana require, among other things, evidence of “acceptance” to contract. *See, e.g., Collins v. Ky. Lottery Corp.*, 399 S.W. 3d 449, 455 (Ky. App. 2012) (the elements of a contract include, among other things, “acceptance”); La. Civ. Code, arts. 1918, 1927, 1971, 2029 cmt. B (1991) (a valid contract must have, *inter alia*, “consent”). In *Langlois*, the District Court found that the plaintiff accepted the offer to arbitrate by clicking “Acknowledge,” failing to opt out, and continuing to work for Amedisys. In *Knight*, the District Court explicitly found as much,

³ And, in the *Knight* matter, against the plaintiff’s non-signatory former supervisor. 2016 WL 5661227.

holding: “[b]ecause Knight clicked the acknowledgment form to indicate that she received and understood the materials, and she did not opt out of the Agreement, [the plaintiff] manifested her assent to the Agreement, including the agreement to arbitrate.” 2016 WL 5661227 at *3.

South Carolina case law also compels enforcing the Arbitration Agreement here. In *Willard v. Dollar General Corporation*, the plaintiff sued her former employer alleging various causes of action stemming from an armed robbery that was committed while the plaintiff was working. 2017 WL 4551500, *1 (D.S.C. 2017) After the defendant removed the action on diversity grounds, it filed a motion to dismiss or, alternatively, to stay litigation and compel arbitration asserting that the plaintiff was required to arbitrate her claims because they were covered by a valid and enforceable arbitration agreement. *Id.* at *2. In its motion, the defendant established that on October 17, 2014, while employed by Dollar General, the plaintiff logged into her employee account and viewed the arbitration agreement. *Id.* at 1. Once logged in, the plaintiff was advised that she would be bound by the terms of the arbitration agreement if she did not opt out within 30 days of viewing the arbitration agreement. *Id.* Over the next 30 days, the plaintiff did not opt out and continued to work for Dollar General thereafter. *Id.* Although the plaintiff conceded the applicability and enforcement of the arbitration agreement, the District Court noted that following the expiration of the 30 day opt out period, the “parties became bound by [the agreement’s] terms,” thereby establishing a valid contract. *Id.* at *1-2.

A similar question was presented in *Brown v. Five Star Quality Care, Inc.* 2016 WL 8710474 (D.S.C. 2016). In *Brown*, the plaintiffs worked for Five Star, a for-profit corporation operating 260 senior living facilities in the United States, including in Charleston, South Carolina where the five plaintiffs worked. *Id.* at *2. According to the complaint, Five Star required the plaintiffs to work off the clock without compensation in violation of the Fair Labor

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