THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-CP-22-01001
Appellate Case No. 2019-000451

RECEIVED
AUG 09 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Nicole Lampo Respondent,

v.

Amedisys Holding, LLC, and Leisa Victoria Neasbitt, Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

J. Paul Porter, Esquire (# 100723)
Cromer Babb Porter & Hicks, LLC
1418 Laurel Street, Suite A (29201)
Post Office Box 11675
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-11675
Phone 803-799-9530
Facsimile 803-799-9533
paul@cbphlaw.com

Attorney for Respondent Nicole Lampo

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

MR. REEVES: Continued employment, Your Honor as well.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. REEVES: That, that from that point on her not accepting it did not lead to her termination. This was not a take it or leave it.

THE COURT: Well, I thought I read in here where it was not a condition of employment.

MR. REEVES: It was not a condition of employment, but she, but she continued - she, she had the right to opt out. She didn't opt out and then continued to work for the company.

THE COURT: But I mean, how is continuing to work for the company acceptance?

MR. REEVES: Well, or the -

THE COURT: She was - I mean, even if she opted out she was going to continue to work for the company.

MR. REEVES: Correct, but I believe, Your Honor, the fact that she, she acknowledged - she received and acknowledged this arbitration agreement and did not opt out that would be the acceptance, but not opting out of it.

THE COURT: So the legal question is whether or not rejection of an offer or failure to reject an offer is acceptance[?]

MR. REEVES: Correct, Your Honor.

(R. pp. 153:23-155:4). Indeed, the ultimate question on this issue is not only whether failure to reject an offer amounts to acceptance, but also, especially in light of the below argument on actual notice, the question in this case more precisely is whether failure to reject an offer an offeree did not know was even made amounts to an acceptance.

Ultimately, “a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute that the party has not agreed to submit.” *Chassereau v. Glob.-Sun Pools, Inc.*, 363 S.C. 628, 632, 611 S.E.2d 305, 307 (Ct. App. 2005), *aff'd sub nom. Chassereau v. Glob. Sun Pools, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 168, 644 S.E.2d 718 (2007). The record before the Court does not demonstrate that the Respondent agreed to submit this dispute to arbitration and, therefore, the Circuit Court’s ruling denying arbitration because there was no acceptance should be affirmed.

II. ADDITIONAL SUSTAINING GROUNDS EXIST FOR THE COURT TO AFFIRM THE LOWER COURT’S RULING.

Respondent, pursuant to Rule 220(c), SCACR raises four additional sustaining grounds upon which this Court can affirm the Lower’ Court’s decision. Rule 220(c), SCACR (“The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision, or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on

Appeal). Each of the following arguments were specifically made to the Circuit Court and were acknowledged by the Circuit Court in its Order. (R. pp. 122-146); (R. pp. 5-9).

A. Respondent never received actual notice of the proposed arbitration agreement.

“It is not too much to ask an employer to provide actual notice to its employees before significantly restricting rights created by decades of state and federal legislation.” *Reese v. Commercial Credit Corp.*, 955 F. Supp. 567, 570 (D.S.C. 1997). The record reflects that Ms. Lampo did not receive actual notice of the unsigned arbitration agreement at issue; therefore, she cannot be made to arbitrate this dispute. *Id.*, 955 F. Supp. 567, 570 (D.S.C. 1997); (“The court believes that the South Carolina Supreme Court would apply the same actual notice requirement to an employer’s implementation of an arbitration agreement.”); *see also*, *Chassereau v. Global-Sun Pools, Inc.*, 363 S.C. 628, 632, 611 S.E.2d 305, 307 (S.C. Ct. App. 2005). The law, to modify even a unilateral employment contract, imposes a “reasonable notice requirement for modification [that] requires actual notice to the employee.” *Fleming v. Borden, Inc.*, 316 S.C. 452, 463, 450 S.E.2d 589, 596 (1994). “Whether the employer has provided actual notice of a modification of the employment contract created by an employee handbook in most cases will be for the jury to determine.” *Fleming*, 316 S.C. 452, 463, 450 S.E.2d at 596.

Actual notice can be express or implied. *Strother v. Lexington County Recreation Com’n*, 332 S.C. 54, 63, 504 S.E.2d 117, 122 (S.C. 1998). Express actual notice has been found in employment cases when plaintiffs have received, read, understood, and signed new agreements. *See, Shelton v. Oscar Mayer Foods Corp.*, 319 S.C. 81, 89-90, 459 S.E.2d 851, 856-57 (S.C. Ct. App. 1995). However, the South Carolina Supreme Court has declined to find actual notice where “there [wa]s no evidence that [the plaintiff] had read and understood” an updated handbook. *Id.* 319 S.C. at 90. Actual notice can also be implied through act, such as attending a meeting, personally disseminating information to others, or filing a claim through mediation. *Hightower v. GMRI, Inc.*, 272 F.3d 239, 242 (4th Cir. 2001) (applying North Carolina law).

Here, the Appellants rely on a generic, company-wide email and a compulsory electronic pop-up to establish notice. (R. pp. 50-58). Lampo has no recollection of receiving the arbitration agreement or acknowledgement pop-up at issue, there is no signed arbitration agreement, and the Appellants have produced no record evidence that Lampo even reviewed the subject unsigned agreement. (See, R. pp. 142-143 ¶¶ 5, 9-10, 13-14). This Court has recognized actual notice of an arbitration agreement within a handbook where an employee physically received and signed a handbook acknowledgement that included the arbitration clause at issue. *Towles v. United HealthCare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 37, 524 S.E.2d 839, 844 (Ct. App. 1999). This Court has also required evidence that an employee received, read, understood, and signed a new agreement to establish express actual notice in other employment contexts. See *Shelton*, 459 S.E.2d at 857. Last, persuasively, the Fourth Circuit has recognized implied actual notice through meetings and evidence that information was personally disseminated to others. See, *Hightower*, 272 F.3d at 242 (4th Cir. 2001) (applying North Carolina law). The record here, however, is devoid of ample evidence as delineated above to even create a fact issue for the Appellants on arbitrability where all Appellants can point to is an abbreviated pop-up that Ms. Lampo does not even remember receiving.

The record before this Court lacks the sort of evidence required to establish actual notice of a bilateral agreement under South Carolina law. Therefore, Amedisys' proposed arbitration agreement is unenforceable for want of actual notice as a matter of law and the Court, if necessary, should affirm the Circuit Court's ruling based on this additional sustaining ground.

B. Severe restrictions on discovery cause a one-sided disadvantage to the Respondent and render Appellant Amedisys' proposed arbitration agreement unconscionable.

Even if Lampo had notice or assented to the unsigned arbitration agreement at issue, South Carolina has invalidated arbitration agreements where terms are one-sided or oppressive. *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 32, 644 S.E.2d 663, 672 (2007) ("However, we find that the provision in the arbitration clause dictating that the dealer's judicial remedies supersede the

consumer's arbitral remedies is one-sided and oppressive and does not promote a neutral and unbiased arbitral forum.") (clause carved out certain remedies for car dealer from arbitration clause). Here, the unsigned agreement incorporates American Arbitration Association Rules "except as provided in [the] Agreement."

The AAA rules have been found to be fair in response to unconscionability challenges; however, here, Appellant Amedisys makes one major deviation from those rules by providing: "each party shall have the right to take the deposition of one individual and any expert witness designated by another party." (R. p. 63). Restricting an employee/plaintiff in an employment case to deposing one fact witness, where the defendant/employer employs many of the conceivable fact witnesses is one-sided and oppressive. *See, Fitz v. NCR Corp.*, 118 Cal. App. 4th 702, 718, 13 Cal. Rptr. 3d 88, 98 (2004) ("Certainly, a dramatic disparity of information between employer and employee may constitute a 'compelling' reason to exceed the discovery limit in the [Employer] policy, but when employees are only allowed to depose two witnesses in an attempt to establish that need, they are not given sufficient opportunity to vindicate their statutory claims."); *Ferguson v. Countrywide Credit Indus., Inc.*, 298 F.3d 778, 787 (9th Cir. 2002) ("We follow *Mercurio* in holding that the discovery provisions alone are not unconscionable, but in the context of an arbitration agreement which unduly favors [the Employer] at every turn, we find that their inclusion reaffirms our belief that the arbitration agreement as a whole is substantively unconscionable.").

Here, the limitation on fact witness depositions contained in Amedisys' agreement is one-sided against Respondent, a former employee, where the majority of her witnesses conceivably remain employed by Amedisys. Therefore, in addition to the contract formation grounds above, unconscionability is an additional ground upon which this Court can and should affirm the Circuit Court's ruling.

C. Respondent's post-termination tort claims are not covered by Amedisys' unsigned arbitration agreement.

The following narrow language is contained on the first page of Appellant Amedisys' arbitration agreement:

This agreement applies to any dispute arising out of or related to Employee's employment with Amedisys or termination of employment regardless of its date of accrual and survives after the employment relationship terminates.

(R. p. 60). Respondent's discharge claim is the only claim encompassed by the scope of the arbitration agreement. Lampo's tortious interference with contract and defamation claims are post-termination torts which are not covered by the unsigned agreement. Specifically, Lampo's defamation claim refers to defamatory publications of the pretextual reason for Lampo's termination to unprivileged coworkers and a former customer, and Lampo's tortious interference claim refers to interference with her ability to gain post-termination employment. (R. pp. 18-19, 21 ¶¶ 64-67, 89-90). None of these claims involve conduct that was incidental or necessary to the parties' former employment relationship; therefore, they are not implicated by Appellant Amedisys' unsigned arbitration agreement. Furthermore, contract interpretation principles dictate that the scope of the above provision be limited to its word's ordinary meaning.

Appellants, apparently predicting that this argument would be re-raised on appeal, argue in a conclusory fashion that because these claims "arise directly out of decisions made by Amedisys and Ms. Neasbitt [] regarding Ms. Lampo's former work relationship" they fall within the scope of the arbitration agreement. (Appellants' Brief pp. 18-19). However, Appellants provide no explanation of how making defamatory statements about a former employee or intentionally interfering with a former

employee's ability to acquire new employment is incidental to an ordinary employer-employee relationship. That is, the post-termination torts alleged do not arise out of or relate to employment.⁴

"It is well settled that ambiguities arising within a contract must be construed against the drafter." *S. Atl. Fin. Servs., Inc. v. Middleton*, 349 S.C. 77, 84, 562 S.E.2d 482, 486 (Ct. App. 2002), *aff'd as modified*, 356 S.C. 444, 590 S.E.2d 27 (2003). "This rule applies with particular force in cases involving a contract of adhesion." *Id.*; *See also, Lackey v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 330 S.C. 388, 394, 498 S.E.2d 898, 901 (Ct. App. 1998); *citing*, 1 *Corbin on Contracts* § 1.4 (rev. ed. 1993) ("recognizing adhesion contracts as agreements in which one party has virtually no voice in the formulation of their terms and language"). Here, Appellant Amedisys' unsigned arbitration agreement only applies to disputes arising out of or related to employment. Ms. Lampo's defamation and tortious interference claims are not the natural result of an employment relationship. The stated scope of the unsigned arbitration clause must be construed against the Appellants. When the scope is appropriately construed, the lion-share of Ms. Lampo's complaint is not subject to arbitration.

Therefore, as an additional sustaining ground, the Lower Court should be affirmed as to Lampo's claims of defamation and tortious interference with contract because they are not covered by the unsigned arbitration agreement at issue.

D. Appellant Neasbitt, who is not a party to the proposed arbitration agreement, cannot enforce the arbitration agreement as to the claims personally alleged against her.

⁴ Earlier, before the lower Court, Appellants cited to Fourth Circuit opinion for the suggested premise that the language "arising out of or related to" suggests a broadly applied arbitration clause, but the case cited was wholly distinguishable *American Recovery Corp. v. Computerized Thermal Imaging, Inc.*, 96 F.3d 88, 93 (4th Cir. 1996). The *American Recovery Corp.* case considered whether claims that involved the breach of a consulting agreement which contained an arbitration clause were arbitrable. *American Recovery Corp.*, 96 F.3d at 92. There, the Fourth Circuit held that the district court erred in finding the claims alleged were not within the scope of the consulting agreement's arbitration clause because each claim concerned the consulting agreement itself. *Id.* *American Recovery Corp.* is inapplicable to this argument because this argument is premised on the plain language of the unsigned arbitration clause which limits its scope to "any dispute arising out of or related to the Employee's employment with Amedisys or termination of employment." (R. p. 60).

Ms. Lampo maintains that neither her tortious interference with contract nor her defamation claim is covered by the proposed arbitration agreement. However, even if these claims were within the scope of the proposed agreement, Appellant Neasbitt, Lampo's former supervisor, is not a party to the arbitration agreement at issue, and she cannot enforce it against Lampo for post-termination conduct. Appellants argue that Appellant Neasbitt may compel arbitration of the defamation claim against her as a non-signatory under an "intertwined claims" test. (Appellants' Brief pp. 20-21). Appellants primarily cite to a district court opinion for its discussion of this test. *Carter v. MasTec Services Co., Inc.*, C.A. 2:09-2721-PMD 2010 WL 500421, at *4 (D.S.C. 2010).

Applying the "intertwined claims" test discussed in *Carter* to the facts in the instant case makes clear that the claim against Appellant Neasbitt is not "intertwined" with the proposed arbitration agreement. The "intertwined claims" test is based on the doctrine of equitable estoppel and allows a non-signatory to compel arbitration in two instances: (1) where the plaintiff/signatory to a written agreement must rely on the terms of that agreement for its claims against the non-signatory or (2) where the plaintiff/signatory "raises allegations of substantially interdependent and concerted misconduct by both the non-signatory and one or more of the signatories to the contract." *Carter*, 2010 WL 500421, at *5. The first scenario is inapplicable because there is no agreement between Lampo and Appellant Amedisys which substantiates the basis for Lampo's defamation claim against Appellant Neasbitt. *Wilson*, 827 S.E.2d 167, 177 (2019) ("Petitioners have not attempted to procure any direct benefit from the Agency Agreement itself while attempting to avoid its arbitration provision."). The second scenario is also inapplicable because Lampo's defamation claim is not dependent on her other claims against Appellant Amedisys. Therefore, neither avenue under the "intertwined claims" test is applicable in this case, and Appellant Neasbitt is precluded from compelling arbitration.

“Equitable estoppel is, ultimately, a theory designed to prevent injustice, and it should be used sparingly.” *Wilson*, 827 S.E.2d at 177 (2019) (Rejecting use of equitable estoppel to compel arbitration against a non-signatory.) Here, there is neither sufficient record evidence nor an indication from the claims and procedural posture of this case to justify the use of equitable estoppel to allow non-signatory Neasbitt to enforce Amedisys’ arbitration agreement against Ms. Lampo.

III. ALTERNATIVELY, SHOULD THE COURT REVERSE, THE APPROPRIATE REMEDY UNDER THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT WOULD BE INSTRUCTIONS REQUIRING A JURY TRIAL ON ARBITRABILITY AND LIMITED JURISDICTIONAL PRE-TRIAL DISCOVERY.

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